RECEIVED

Jan 04 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000384

Melissa Dixon and Willard Dixon Respondents,

v.

Lansing Pattee, Stephanie Pattee, Weekley Homes, LLC f/k/a Weekley Homes, L.P. d/b/a David Weekley Homes, John Doe, A2Z Advanced Home Inspections, LLC, Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland, Westchester Fire Insurance Company.....Defendants,

And

Lansing Pattee and Stephanie Pattee.....Third Party-Plaintiffs,

v.

Gutter Pros, LLC.....Third- Party Defendant,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying a motion to compel arbitration where an enforceable arbitration agreement covered the scope of the claims asserted in this dispute and the agreement explicitly provided that the transaction involved interstate commerce and that the Federal Arbitration Act would apply to the resolution of any claim, dispute, or cause of action involving the agreement.**
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying a motion to compel arbitration where an enforceable arbitration agreement covered the scope of the claims asserted in this dispute and the transaction involved interstate commerce, thereby implicating the Federal Arbitration Act.**
- III. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying a motion to compel arbitration with respect to the claim the Pattees asserted against Weekley where the Pattees' claim against Weekley falls within the scope of the arbitration agreements and it is undisputed that the agreement is enforceable.**
- IV. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying a motion to compel arbitration with respect to the claims the Dixons asserted against Weekley where the causes of action asserted by the Dixons against Weekley are dependent upon the agreements that require arbitration and are within the scope of the arbitration agreements.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 30, 2017, Respondents Melissa and Willard Dixon (the “Dixons”) filed a complaint against Respondents Lansing and Stephanie Pattee (the “Pattees”), alleging that the Pattees sold them a home in 2017 with certain defects, including moisture intrusion issues, and that the Pattees knew of the issues but did not reveal the defects to the Dixons prior to the conveyance. **(R. pp. 8-9)**. The Dixons alleged causes of action against the Pattees for breach of contract, fraud, fraud in the inducement, negligent misrepresentation, and violation of the South Carolina Residential Property Conditions Disclosure Act. **(R. pp. 10-15)**.

On July 18, 2018, the Dixons filed their First Amended Complaint, maintaining their claims against the Pattees, but also adding claims against Appellant Weekley Homes, LLC, f/k/a Weekley Homes, L.P. d/b/a David Weekley Homes (“Weekley”), Respondent A2Z Advanced Home Inspections, LLC (“A2Z”), and Respondent John Doe (unknown construction agents). **(R. pp. 37-61)**. The Dixons’ First Amended Complaint asserted three causes of action against Weekley: (1) negligence and gross negligence; (2) breach of express and implied warranties; and (3) an unfair trade practice claim. **(R. pp. 50-57)**. In answering the Dixons’ First Amended Complaint, the Pattees crossclaimed against Weekley seeking equitable indemnification. **(R. pp. 67-68)**.

Weekley answered the Dixons’ First Amended Complaint on August 24, 2018, asserting that the Dixons’ claims should be resolved by arbitration, and answered the crossclaims for equitable indemnification asserted by the Pattees. **(R. p. 80)**.

On November 21, 2018, Weekley filed its Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”), accompanied by the Affidavit of John Burchfield, General

Counsel for Weekley (the “Burchfield Affidavit”), seeking an Order compelling arbitration of all claims asserted against it. **(R. pp. 192-193)**.

On January 1, 2019, the Dixons amended their complaint again. **(R. pp. 86-110)**. The Dixons’ Second Amended Complaint, the operative complaint in this matter, added allegations against two surety companies that allegedly issued license bonds to Weekley, Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland and Winchester Fire Insurance Company, and a negligence cause of action against Gutter Pros, LLC. **(R. pp. 87-88, 93-94)**.

Additionally, the Dixons’ abandoned their negligence and gross negligence claims against Weekley—the Second Amended Complaint only asserted two causes of action against Weekley: (1) breach of express and implied warranties; and (2) an unfair trade practices cause of action. **(R. pp. 100-103)**.

The Pattees’ answer to the Dixons’ Second Amended Complaint asserted the same equitable indemnification crossclaims against Weekley as they previously asserted. **(R. p. 129)**. Weekley timely answered the Dixons’ Second Amended Complaint asserting arbitration as a defense and incorporating its pending Motion to Compel Arbitration. **(R. p. 120)** (“Plaintiff’s claims should be barred, and the case dismissed, or in the alternative stayed, pending a resolution of this dispute by arbitration. Weekley has filed a Motion seeking to Compel Arbitration and incorporates that motion herein.”). **(R. pp. 192-193)**. Weekley also filed Answers in response to the Pattees’ and A2Z’s Crossclaims. **(R. pp. 132-135); (R. pp. 136-139)**.

No party filed any opposition to the Motion to Compel Arbitration or any affidavit supporting their positions. Weekley filed its memorandum in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 11, 2019. **(R. pp. 240-246)**. The Circuit Court heard arguments on Weekley’s Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 12, 2019. **(R. p. 150)**. At the hearing on

February 12, 2019, counsel for the Dixons and Pattees argued that the Burchfield Affidavit was insufficient to demonstrate the transaction involved interstate commerce. **(R. pp. 170-177)**. In response to those arguments that were asserted for the first time at the hearing, Weekley filed the Affidavit of Tim Dupree (the “Dupree Affidavit”) in further support of its Motion to Compel Arbitration. **(R. pp. 247-248)**. Again, no party filed any opposing affidavits or other opposition.

The Circuit Court denied Weekley’s Motion to Compel Arbitration by way of a Form 4 Order issued on October 9, 2019, which stated:

After careful consideration, the Court respectfully denies the motion to compel arbitration, the motion to dismiss, and the motion for summary judgment. The court finds that there is sufficient evidence based upon the pleadings, discovery, motions, to withstand the motion for summary judgment and continue with the case.

(R. p. 1).

On October 14, 2019, Weekley timely served and filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend the Form 4 Order. **(R. p. 249)**. On February 10, 2020, the Circuit Court held a hearing on Weekley’s Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend. **(R. p. 140)**. The Circuit Court denied the Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend by an Order filed on February 21, 2020, indicating:

I have reviewed and considered the Motion to Reconsider and all supporting documents, affidavits and memoranda on file and, after due consideration find and conclude that the Court’s previous ruling should stand undisturbed.

(R. pp. 4-5).

On March 5, 2020, Weekley timely filed its Notice of Appeal of the Form 4 Order and Order denying its Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend. **(R. p. 267)**.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Pattees entered into an agreement with Weekley on August 18, 2008 (the “Agreement”), whereby the Pattees agreed to purchase the property located at 174 Carolinian Drive, Summerville, SC 29485 and the “residential improvements constructed, *or to be constructed*, thereon.” (R. pp. 198-204) (italics added). John Burchfield, General Counsel for the Weekley Group of Companies, including the Appellant Weekley entity, attested that the Agreement “concern[ed] the *construction* and sale of a home.” (R. pp. 194) (double emphasis added). Construction of the subject home was not complete when the Pattees and Weekley entered the Agreement. See (R. pp. 198-206) (signed by the Pattees on August 18, 2008). The Agreement specified that the closing was to be completed within five days of Weekley’s completion of its “*construction obligations*.” (R. p. 199) (double emphasis added). According to the Complaint, the closing occurred on September 10, 2008. (R. pp. 88-89).

The work performed during this period between execution of the Agreement and closing included, among other things, changes and customizations of the home. (R. pp. 194-195). For example, pursuant to Paragraph 6 of the Agreement, the Pattees were to select the following: flooring, appliances, countertops, plumbing fixtures, interior and exterior hardware, light fixtures, interior paint, and backsplash and wall tile. (R. pp. 199-200); (R. p. 219). The records submitted by Burchfield as exhibits to his Affidavit show that the Pattees made \$15,275.00 worth of customizations. (R. p. 222). Furthermore, Weekley modified the following aspects of the construction without any charge to the Pattees: hardwood floors were extended into the family/kitchen/breakfast area, a stainless undermount sink and faucet was installed and two-piece crown was added in the family room and study. (R. p. 197).

No evidence was offered controverting Burchfield's sworn affidavit that the Agreement concerned the construction of the subject property. Furthermore, by supplemental affidavit, Tim Dupree attested that the following specific materials were purchased for the Pattees' home from manufacturers or suppliers outside of the state of South Carolina:

Appliances purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in Kentucky;

Roofing shingles purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in Minnesota;

Hardwood flooring purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in North Carolina;

Countertops purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in Minnesota;

Sinks purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in California;

Faucets purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in North Carolina; and

Crown molding purchased from manufacturers or suppliers in Georgia.

(R. pp. 247-248). Dupree further attested that the above-noted materials were transported from outside of South Carolina to the Property. **(R. p. 248).**

The Agreement between Weekley and the Pattees contains a mandatory arbitration provision. **(R. pp. 201-203).** Paragraph 9 of the Agreement provides in pertinent part:

DISPUTE RESOLUTION: ANY CLAIM, DISPUTE OR CAUSE OF ACTION INVOLVING SELLER OR PURCHASER ... SHALL BE RESOLVED BY BINDING ARBITRATION, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT (TITLE 9, U.S. CODE) OR THE APPLICABLE STATE ARBITRATION STATUTE, IF THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT DOES NOT APPLY.

a. Scope of Arbitration. The Arbitration provisions of this Agreement apply to all claims brought by through or under Purchaser, their dependents or other occupants of the Property, whether sounding in contract, tort, or otherwise, including claims for emergency or interim relief. The claims, disputes or causes of action within the scope of arbitration include, but are not limited to, those arising in connection with: (i) this Agreement, including the negotiation, formation, subject matter, breach, cancellation or termination hereof; (ii) the development, design, construction, preparation, maintenance or repair, of improvements to the Property; (iii) marketing or sale of the Property; (iv) any representations or warranties,

express or implied, relating to the Agreement or the Property; (v) any transaction, event or relationship between Purchaser and Seller, including any subsequent agreement or alleged agreement between Purchaser and Seller; (vi) any violations of any statute including, but not limited to, consumer protection, disclosure, or similar statutes or regulations; (vii) any personal injury or property damage claim; and/or (viii) any other agreement, transaction, occurrence or event giving rise to a dispute over breach of legal duties, rights or obligations which involve Purchaser and Seller (“the Dispute”). This arbitration provision shall survive closing, breach or termination of this Agreement and shall not be superseded by the doctrines of merger or waiver.

(R. pp. 201-202) (italics and bold added in part, original in all bold).

The signature page of the Agreement provides additional notice of the parties’ agreement to arbitrate disputes involving either of them, stating:

NOTICE OF ARBITRATION AGREEMENT: The David Weekley Homes Real Estate Purchase Agreement provides that all disputes between you and David Weekley Homes (including its agents, contractors and developers) *will be resolved by **BINDING ARBITRATION***. You thus GIVE UP YOUR RIGHT TO GO TO COURT to assert or defend your rights in connection with any claim that is within the scope of the arbitration clause (EXCEPT for matters that may be taken to SMALL CLAIMS COURT). Your rights will be determined by a NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR and NOT a judge or jury. You are entitled to a FAIR HEARING, BUT the arbitration procedures are SIMPLER AND MORE LIMITED THAN RULES APPLICABLE IN COURT. Arbitrator decisions are as enforceable as any court order and are subject to VERY LIMITED REVIEW BY A COURT. FOR MORE DETAILS, Review Section 9 of the Real Estate Purchase Agreement OR the American Arbitration Association Web site, www.adr.org

(R. p. 204) (italics and bold added in part, original all in bold).

Weekley, by and through a third-party, provided a limited warranty with respect to the subject property (the “Warranty”).¹ **(R. p. 225)**. The Warranty, like the Agreement, contains an arbitration section, which provides in pertinent part:

¹ Professional Warranty Service Corporation (“PWC”), a third-party, issues written warranties for Weekley and performs administrative functions, but the warranty is made by Weekley and Weekley performs all work under the warranty. **(R. p. 226)** (“The words ‘WE’, ‘US’ and ‘OUR’ refer to the **BUILDER**” and “**WE** have contracted with **PWC** for certain administrative services relative to this **LIMITED WARRANTY**. **PWC**’s sole responsibility is to provide administrative services as set forth herein.”).

[A]ny claim, controversy or dispute . . . between **YOU** and **US**, or parties acting on **YOUR** or **OUR** behalf, including **PWC**, and any successor, or assign of either **YOU** or **US**, which relates to or arises from this **LIMITED WARRANTY**, or the design or construction of the **HOME** or the **COMMON ELEMENTS**, or the sale of the **HOME** or transfer of title to the **COMMON ELEMENTS**, *will be resolved solely by binding arbitration* and not through litigation in court before a judge or jury.

(R. p. 232) (double emphasis added).

Weekley provided the Pattees with a copy of the Warranty prior to the execution of the Agreement and closing on the sale. **(R. p. 200); (R. p. 220); (R. p. 196)**. The Agreement expressly provides that the Pattees had an opportunity to review a copy of the Warranty prior to the execution of the Agreement and that by closing on the property, the Pattees acknowledge and accept the terms of the Warranty. **(R. p. 200)** (“Seller shall provide a written Home Builder’s Limited Warranty . . . Purchaser acknowledges having an opportunity to review a copy of the Home Warranty prior to the execution of this Agreement. . . . By closing, Purchaser acknowledges and accepts the terms of the Home Warranty.”). The Pattees executed the Agreement and initialed Page 3 thereof, the same page bearing the Warranty language. **(R. p. 200)**. The Warranty arbitration provision goes on to specifically provide that the agreement to arbitrate “is made pursuant to *a transaction involving interstate commerce*, and shall be governed by and interpreted under the *Federal Arbitration Act* now in effect and as it may be hereafter amended (the ‘FAA’) to the exclusion of any inconsistent state law, regulation or judicial decision.” **(R. p. 233)** (double emphasis added). The Warranty also provides that it is transferrable to a subsequent homeowner. **(R. p. 239)**.

The Dixons sued Weekley for breach of express warranty, alleging that: “Weekley impliedly and/or expressly warranted that the design, building, construction, and materials would be performed using the utmost skill and attention and would be of good and workmanlike quality.

Further, Weekley impliedly and/or expressly warranted that the design, building, construction, and materials would be such that the Subject Residence would be habitable and fit for its intended use as a single family residence.” **(R. p. 101)**.

The Pattees sued Weekley for equitable indemnification, seeking to recover from Weekley its attorney’s fees and costs associated with defending this action on the basis that the Pattees have done no wrong and been named in this suit because of Weekley’s negligence. **(R. p. 129)**.

Weekley sought to compel arbitration of the Pattees’ and the Dixons’ claims against it. **(R. pp. 192-193)**. Weekley supported its Motion to Compel Arbitration with the Affidavit of John Burchfield, which included the Agreement and Warranty between Weekley and the Pattees. **(R. pp. 194-195); (R. pp. 198-224); (R. pp. 225-239)**. Weekley also filed a memorandum in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration, outlining Weekley’s legal argument for enforcing the arbitration agreements. **(R. pp. 240-246)**. Additionally, in response to arguments raised for the first time at the hearing on the Motion to Compel by counsel for the Dixons and Pattees, Weekley filed the Affidavit of Tim Dupree, which more specifically identified the aspects of the construction of the Pattee home that involved interstate commerce.² **(R. pp. 247-248)**.

The Circuit Court’s Order denying Weekley’s Motion to Compel was entered as a Form 4 Order. **(R. p. 1)**. Weekley timely filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend the Form 4 Order entered on October 9, 2019. **(R. p. 249)**. After a hearing, the Circuit Court denied the Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend. **(R. p. 140); (R. pp. 4-5)**. This appeal followed. **(R. p. 267)**.

² The Affidavit of Tim Dupree was filed on February 22, 2019, 10 days after the hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration, and almost 8 months prior to the Circuit Court’s ruling on the Motion to Compel, which was entered on October 9, 2019. **(R. p. 247); (R. p. 1)**.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Due to the strong South Carolina and federal policy favoring arbitration, arbitration agreements are presumed valid.” Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC, 430 S.C. 188, 195, 844 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2020) (citing Cape Romain Contractors, Inc. v. Wando E., LLC, 405 S.C. 115, 125, 747 S.E.2d 461, 466 (2013)). Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review, but a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed if reasonably supported by the evidence. Id. (citing Parsons v. John Weiland Homes and Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc., 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 130 (2016); Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc., 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 316 (2012); New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Bldrs., 379 S.C. 620, 625, 667 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2008)). Here, the Circuit Court made no factual findings in its rulings.

“[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014) (quoting Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Randolph, 531 U.S. 79, 91, 121 S. Ct. 513, 517, 148 L.Ed.2d 373 (2000)).

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in failing to compel arbitration because the claims asserted by the Pattees and Dixons are within the scope of enforceable arbitration agreements and the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) governs because: (1) the Agreement and Warranty expressly provide that the transaction involved interstate commerce and that the FAA would apply to any claim, dispute, or cause of action; and (2) the transaction did in fact involve interstate commerce. As explained in detail below, the Circuit Court erred by not determining the FAA applies and that under the

FAA, the Pattees' and Dixons' claims against Weekley are subject to arbitration. Therefore, the Circuit Court should be reversed, and arbitration ordered.

I. The Circuit Court erred in denying a motion to compel arbitration where an enforceable arbitration agreement covered the scope of the claims asserted in this dispute³ and the agreement explicitly provided that the transaction involved interstate commerce and that the Federal Arbitration Act would apply to the resolution of any claim, dispute, or cause of action involving the agreement.

The FAA provides: “[a] written provision in any maritime transaction or a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction, or the refusal to perform the whole or any part thereof, or an agreement in writing to submit to arbitration an existing controversy arising out of such contract, transaction, or refusal, shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C.A. § 2. Here, the Circuit Court committed an error of law by not finding that the FAA applied because the Agreement and Warranty expressly provided for mandatory, binding arbitration, that the transaction involved interstate commerce, and that the FAA would apply.

An agreement providing that a transaction involves interstate commerce is enforceable “like any other contract term.” Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC, 430 S.C. 188, 196, 844 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2020). In Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, a group of homeowners sued Lennar Carolinas, LLC (“Lennar”) alleging construction deficiencies. Id. at 194. Lennar moved to compel arbitration of the homeowners’ claims based upon a provision in the parties’ purchase and sale agreements that provided in pertinent part: “The parties to this Agreement specifically agree that this transaction involves interstate commerce and that any Dispute (as hereinafter defined) shall

³ The enforceability and scope of the arbitration agreement are discussed in detail in section III and IV, *infra*.

first be submitted to mediation and, if not settled during mediation, shall thereafter be submitted to binding arbitration as provided by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.) and not by or in a court of law or equity. . .” Id. at 195. The circuit court denied Lennar’s motion to compel arbitration. Id. at 194.

This Court reversed the circuit court’s denial of Lennar’s motion to compel arbitration, finding as follows:

We first consider whether the FAA applies. We hold it does, for two reasons. First, the PA [the Purchase and Sales Agreement] provides the parties ‘specifically agree that this transaction involves interstate commerce.’ We must enforce this agreement like any other contract term. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363-64 (2001) (finding FAA applied because parties had agreed contract involved interstate commerce).

Id. at 195.

As in Damico, the parties here agreed that the transaction between them involved interstate commerce. (**R. p. 233**) (“This arbitration agreement is made pursuant to a transaction involving interstate commerce ...”).

The parties also agreed that the FAA would govern disputes arising out of the construction, sale, and warranty of the subject Property. Both the Warranty and the Agreement in unequivocal terms specify that the FAA shall govern. (**R. p. 201**) (“Any claim, dispute, or cause of action involving Seller or Purchaser . . . shall be resolved by binding arbitration, in accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act.”) (bold and all capitalized in original); (**R. p. 233**) (“This arbitration agreement . . . shall be governed by and interpreted under the Federal Arbitration Act now in effect and as it may be hereafter amended . . . to the exclusion of any inconsistent state law, regulation or judicial decision.”).

In addition to this Court, the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that an agreement among parties that a contract shall be subject to the Federal Arbitration Act is binding and

enforceable. Specifically, in Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., the Supreme Court held that “the arbitration agreement, which applies to ‘this contract and the relationships which result from this contract,’ provides it shall be governed by the FAA. Arbitration agreements, like other contracts, are enforceable in accordance with their terms.” 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363-64 (citing Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Bd. of Trustees of Leland Stanford Jr. Univ., 489 U.S. 468, 478, 109 S. Ct. 1248, 1255, 103 L. Ed. 2d 488 (1989)); see also, Cape Romain Contractors, Inc. v. Wando E., LLC, 405 S.C. 115, 126, 747 S.E.2d 461, 466, (2013) (citing Munoz, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363–64, and stating in a parenthetical as follows: “holding an agreement that provides it shall be governed by the FAA is enforceable in accordance with its terms”).

Here, the Circuit Court erred in refusing to enforce the provisions of the Agreement and Warranty providing that the FAA applies and the transaction involved interstate commerce. The Circuit Court should be reversed, and arbitration ordered.

II. The Circuit Court erred in denying a motion to compel arbitration where an enforceable arbitration agreement covered the scope of the claims asserted in this dispute⁴ and the transaction involved interstate commerce, thereby implicating the Federal Arbitration Act.

In addition to the contract provisions discussed above, the transaction in fact involved interstate commerce and the Circuit Court committed error of law in failing to find the FAA applied for that reason.

“Unless the parties have contracted to the contrary, the FAA applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001) (internal citations omitted). The

⁴ The enforceability and scope of the arbitration agreement are discussed in detail in section III and IV, *infra*.

evidence in this case is that the transaction did involve interstate commerce. “The United States Supreme Court has held that the phrase ‘involving commerce’ is the same as ‘affecting commerce,’ which has been broadly interpreted to mean Congress intended to utilize its powers to regulate interstate commerce to its full extent.” Blanton v. Stathos, 351 S.C. 534, 540, 570 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing Allied–Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265, 115 S. Ct. 834 (1995)).

“The federal policy favoring arbitration, as expressed in the FAA, is now binding even in state courts and supersedes inconsistent state law and statutes which invalidate arbitration agreements.” Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc., 346 S.C. 580, 590, 553 S.E.2d 110, 115 (2001) (internal citation omitted). “The basic purpose of the FAA is to overcome state courts’ refusal to enforce arbitration agreements.” Id. at 590-91, 553 S.E.2d at 115 (citing Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, 513 U.S. 265, 270 (1995)). “While the parties may agree to enforce arbitration agreements under state rules rather than FAA rules, the FAA will preempt any state law that completely invalidates the parties’ agreement to arbitrate.” Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 592, 553 S.E.2d at 116.

The Agreement and Warranty in this case both concerned the *construction* and sale of the subject home. South Carolina courts have consistently held that a contract that involves the construction of a residence, by its very nature, involves interstate commerce. See, e.g., Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC, 430 S.C. 188, 844 S.E.2d 66 (Ct. App. 2020) (holding that where a residential real estate transaction also involved the construction of the residence, the FAA governs); Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc., 398 S.C. 447, 730 S.E.2d 312, n. 8 (2012) (“We emphasize that had the Agreement actually encompassed the construction of the residence, it would have been subject to the FAA as our appellate courts have consistently recognized that

contracts for construction are governed by the FAA.”); Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates, 346 S.C. 580, 594, 553 S.E.2d 110, 117 (2001). Likewise, where materials are produced, manufactured, and/or furnished to a construction project from outside South Carolina, South Carolina Courts have found that the contract necessarily involves interstate commerce. See Circle S. Enterprises, Inc. v. Stanley Smith & Sons, 288 S.C. 428, 431-32, 343 S.E.2d 45, 47 (Ct. App. 1986) (finding a construction contract involved interstate commerce where the equipment, materials, and subcontractors at issue were furnished from out-of-state); Episcopal Hous. Corp. v. Fed. Ins. Co., 269 S.C. 631, 639, 239 S.E.2d 647, 651 (1977) (holding that the contract for the construction of an elderly housing project was interstate where materials, equipment, and supplies were produced and manufactured out-of-state).

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