THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000384

Melissa Dixon and Willard Dixon ,..... Respondents,

v.

Lansing Pattee, Stephanie Pattee, Weekley Homes, LLC f//a Weekley Homes, L.P. d/b/a David Weekley Homes, John Doe, A2Z Advanced Home Inspections, LLC, Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland, and Westchester Fire Insurance Company, .....Defendants,

And

Lansing Pattee and Stephanie Pattee,.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Gutter Pros, LLC,.....Third-Party Defendant,

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The lower court was correct to deny Weekley’s motion to compel arbitration. As explained below, this matter is not subject to arbitration either under either the Federal Arbitration Act or the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, and is also unenforceable due to unconscionability.

#### **I. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IS UNENFORCEABLE UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT**

The Uniform Arbitration Act, as adopted by South Carolina, prescribes the following specific requirements for a contract to be subject to arbitration:

**Notice that a contract is subject to arbitration** pursuant to this chapter **shall be typed in underlined capital letters**, or rubber-stamped prominently, **on the first page of the contract** and unless such notice is displayed thereon the contract shall not be subject to arbitration.

(emphasis added) §15-48-10(a), South Carolina Code of Laws. The South Carolina Supreme Court has strictly construed the notice requirement of §15-48-10(a), applying the terms according to their literal meaning and refusing to accept any variations. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates, et al.*, 346 S.C. 580 at 588 (S.C. 2001). The notice contained in the subject Agreement fails §15-48-10(a) in three ways: (i) it is neither typewritten nor stamped; (ii) it is not underlined; (iii) and it is not displayed on the first page of the document. These technical failures—both individually and collectively—preclude enforcement of arbitration under South-Carolina law.

## **II. THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THE AGREEMENT DID NOT INVOLVE INTERSTATE COMMERCE**

Contrary to Weekley's contention, the Agreement did not involve interstate commerce thus is not subject to arbitration under the FAA. To determine whether a contract involves interstate commerce, the court must examine the agreement, the complaint, and surrounding facts. *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. 580, 594, 553 S.E.2d 110, 117 (2001). This analysis necessarily involves consideration of the historical intrastate character of real estate transactions. *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 456, 730 S.E.2d 312, 316 (2012); *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 595, 553 S.E.2d at 117–18 ("The development of land within South Carolina's border is the quintessential example of a purely intrastate activity.").

Weekley properly filed and served one Affidavit in Support of its Motion, purportedly to offer evidence of interstate commerce. (Affd. John Burchfield). Mr. Burchfield serves as General Counsel for Weekley. Mr. Burchfield briefly discusses the Agreement (which speaks for itself) and asserts a self-serving legal conclusion: “Because [sic] included the construction of the home and allowed the Pattees to make certain decisions customizing that construction, the contract implicates interstate commerce.” (Affd. John Burchfield, ¶ 4. There was no indication Burchfield had direct knowledge of the Pattees or their real estate purchase from Weekley. The Dixons and Pattees argued that Weekley had not submitted sufficient evidence showing the transaction between the Pattees and Weekley involved interstate commerce. The subsequently filed Affidavit of Tim Dupree alleges that Weekley purchased floor coverings, countertops, sinks, faucets, and trim “from manufacturers or suppliers” outside the state of South Carolina. (Affd. Tim Dupree). Neither of Weekley’s affidavits address the crucial fact that Weekley’s contract with the Pattees was for the sale of a completed dwelling rather than for the construction of a dwelling.

Exhibit A to the Affidavit of John Burchfield includes two documents containing referring to a list of minimal modifications to the interior of the home: a “Sales Incentive Sheet” and the “Real Estate Purchase Agreement”. (Affd. John Burchfield, Ex. A at p. 2, 8). Despite both appearing to have been signed on the same date (August 18, 2008), one uses the past-tense and the other uses the future-tenses. The Sales Incentive Sheet provides:

“Hardwoods extended into Family Kitchen/Breakfast. Cambria countertops in kitchen, stainless undermount sink, stainless faucet; 2-piece crown in added to Family & Study”.

(Affd. John Burchfield, Ex. A at p. 2). Paragraph 12 of the Agreement provides:

“Sellers to continue hardwoods through Family Room (to door of Owners Retreat), Kitchen, and Breakfast Rooms.

Sellers to replace laminate kitchen countertops, sink and faucet with a first level Quartz countertop (customers choice), 2 Bowl undermount Stainless Sink and Stainless Faucet. Sellers to continue crown molding through Study and Family Room. Closing to take place on or before September 14, 2008.”

(Affd. John Burchfield, Ex. A at p. 8). Given the contradictory language, it is unclear whether the referenced interior changes were made before or after the Pattees signed these documents. What is clear is that these minor changes were made after construction was complete. Moreover, the performance of these modifications clearly did not serve to convert the intrastate transaction to one involving interstate commerce.

### **III. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IS UNCONSCIONABLE**

A starting point in determining whether a clause is unconscionable is to determine whether the contract was one of adhesion. Although adhesion contracts are not *per se* unconscionable a finding that the agreement constituted an adhesion contract is the beginning point of the analysis. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 27, 644 S.E.2d 663, 669 (2007). “[A]n adhesion contract is a standard form contract offered on a 'take-it-or-leave-it' basis with terms that are not negotiable.” *Id.* at 26-27. In the instant case, the Agreement was a form document drafted and provided by Weekley. The document was presented to the Pattees after Weekley had completed construction of the subject property. The Pattees were offered no meaningful opportunity to bargain for the terms; rather, the document consisted primarily of boiler plate terms. These circumstances are indicative of an adhesion contract.

“In South Carolina, unconscionability is defined as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party, due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them, and no fair and honest person would

accept them." *Id.* Factors to be considered when determining whether a party had a meaningful choice include "the relative disparity in the parties' bargaining power; the parties' relative sophistication; the nature of the injuries suffered by the plaintiff; whether the plaintiff is a substantial business concern; whether there is an element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged clause; and the conspicuousness of the clause." *Id.* As established above, the Agreement is an adhesion contract and the Pattees (and by extension the Dixons) had little to no bargaining power. Weekley is a large corporation that does business in at least twelve states, and the Pattees are two individuals.

Due to the Pattee's lack of relative bargaining power, lack of sophistication, the nature of the damages, the inconspicuous placement and form of the arbitration notice, and the timing of the contract, the Pattees were not afforded a meaningful choice to agree to arbitration. The Pattees' (and by extension the Dixons') lack of meaningful choice, in conjunction with the one-sided and oppressive terms of the agreement, makes the arbitration agreement unconscionable, and therefore unenforceable.

### CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the Court should affirm the lower court's denial of Weekley's motion to compel arbitration.

October 13, 2020